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Joseph F. Smith’s presidency of � e Church of Jesus Christ of La� er-day Saints 
(1901–18) produced a veritable explosion of La� er-day Saint buildings. His 

presidency was pivotal in the change from a pioneering, colonizing, gather-
ing concept of Zion to a larger view allowing for the expansion to a worldwide 
Church. Church priorities are evident in buildings constructed during his presi-
dency. � ese buildings completed Joseph Smith’s plan for the City of Zion—as 
constructed in Nauvoo, Illinois, and extended the plan with additional structures. 
Temples expanded the “o�  cial” boundaries of Zion—in a major way. Period 
schools and meetinghouses show Church e� orts to provide education at all lev-
els a� er Utah education was secularized and no longer centered in ward schools. 
Basic design changes in temples and a rede� nition of ward meetinghouses are 
fundamental to current Church buildings. A new system of Church aid to local 
building projects continued for the next seven decades. Finally, Church leaders 
and architects searching for a “Mormon style” of architecture raise questions 
about what style is appropriate for Church structures.
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�e magnitude of the new construction is impressive. Two temples—the �rst 
two since Brigham Young, and the �rst outside Utah—were started in Cardston, 
Alberta, Canada, and in Laie, Hawaii. A major expansion took place in taberna-
cles, with the construction of thirty-four new buildings—almost 40 percent of 
all the tabernacles identi�ed by Richard Jackson.1 An even greater explosion of 
meetinghouse construction also took place. A 1915 report noted that building 
projects had been undertaken in 58 percent of the wards in the Church.2 Not all 
of these projects were for new structures; some involved new furnaces or other 
major improvements, but both the breadth of the projects and the number of new 
buildings during this seventeen-year period is remarkable. �e magnitude of the 
buildings can be seen by noting that in Provo, projects (almost all new buildings) 
were built in the Provo First, Second, �ird, Fourth, Fi�h, and Sixth Wards—all 
the numbered wards. Similarly, in Ogden projects—mostly new buildings—were 
done in the Ogden First, Second, �ird, Fourth, Fi�h, Sixth, Seventh, Eighth, 
Ninth, Tenth, Eleventh, and Twel�h Wards. Similar projects also took place in 
smaller communities. New buildings or remodels were done in the American 
Fork First, Second, �ird, and Fourth Wards; the Brigham City First, Second, 
�ird, and Fourth Wards; and the Oakley Idaho First, Second, �ird, and Fourth 
Wards. Salt Lake City is more di�cult to evaluate because of numbered wards 
in individual stakes, but many wards had projects during this period, includ-
ing the Twenty-First, Twenty-Second, Twenty-�ird, Twenty-Fourth, Twenty-
Fi�h, Twenty-Sixth, Twenty-Seventh, Twenty-Eighth, Twenty-Ninth, �irtieth, 
�irty-First, and �irty-�ird Wards.3 One of the most dramatic moments in 
this building boom was the dedication of new buildings for all three Heber wards 
on the same day—December 26, 1915—with dedications by Apostles Joseph F. 
Smith Jr., Francis W. Lyman, and George F. Richards.4

Major Salt Lake buildings constructed during this period included the Hotel 
Utah, the Bishop’s Building, the Deseret News Building, the Deseret Gymnasium, 
LDS Hospital, a new campus for LDS University, the Temple Square Bureau of 
Information, and the �rst seminary building.

�e First Presidency of the Church included these accomplishments in their 
1913 Christmas message: “More Church edi�ces have been erected and such 
property acquired than ever before in our history.”5

�is impressive building spurt re�ected both pent-up demand and in-
creased Church �nancial resources. New buildings were greatly needed. �e 
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Church had grown—the number of stakes, for example, more than doubled be-
tween statehood in 1896 and the end of Smith’s presidency in 1918. Most La�er-
day Saint meetinghouses existing in 1901 were single room multipurpose build-
ings. Expanding Church programs in Sunday School, Primary, Mutual, weekday 
religion classes, priesthood quorums, and Relief Societies—when they did not 
have their own buildings—needed additional space and classrooms to e�ectively 
carry out their programs.

Two additional factors increased the need for additional ward structures. 
Con�icts between the United States government and the Church over polygamy 
culminated in the Federal Edmunds-Tucker Act of 1887, disincorporating the 
Church and con�scating its property. �e struggle �nally ended with Utah state-
hood in 1896 following the 1890 Manifesto ending plural marriage. �e a�ermath 
of the prolonged dispute was deep and long lasting. �e Church was deeply in debt 
and its members out of the habit of paying tithing. �e Church thus faced a grow-
ing membership with limited structures because of the con�ict with Washington.

Finally, meetinghouses needed to be constructed to replace ward build-
ings in numerous communities now operating as school buildings owned by lo-
cal governments. Local congregations or wards met, in all but the most urban 
areas, in one-room multipurpose buildings which served as schools as well as 
churches. �ese multipurpose buildings lost the ability to serve both functions 
when, as part of agreements for Utah statehood, free public schools replaced 
Church ward schools.6 Following the 1890 Free School Act in Utah, “many of 
these meetinghouses passed into the hands of the city and county governments.”7

Local wards now had to build meetinghouses or rent buildings they no longer 
owned. Continued use of these former structures became increasingly di�cult. 
�e Jameston Idaho Ward said they met “under many di�culties.”8 �e Fredonia 
Arizona Ward could not hold Primary because there was no place in the school-
house to meet.9 �e Granite Ward in Salt Lake County noted that part of the ward 
was outside the school district and “some ‘outsiders’ are making strong objections” 
to Church use of the school.10 �e Garden Creek and Holden Wards reported that 
they could no longer use their former buildings because they had been partitioned 
for a graded school, making them useless for general meetings.11

Similar needs existed for other buildings. During the La�er-day Saint 
building construction hiatus, Salt Lake City had grown and developed into a 
major city—perhaps not yet the “crossroads of the West,” but a thriving regional 
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center. However, Church buildings did not re�ect those changes. �e Church’s 
President’s O�ce was still housed in the small buildings Brigham Young con-
structed between his two residences, the Beehive and Lion Houses. Church �-
nancial operations were still housed in the Tithing O�ce, a complex constructed 
to deal with farm produce given as tithing in kind, when the economy was now 
largely cash based.

Utah statehood was granted in 1896, �ve years before Smith became Church 
President, symbolically marking the end to a long period of con�ict. �is not 
only removed many impediments to building, but allowed the Church to re-
ceive needed funding. Church President Wilford Woodru� completed the Salt 
Lake Temple a�er forty years of construction, and his successor, Lorenzo Snow, 
placed additional stress on paying tithing, both of which helped provide needed 
Church funds. By 1897, the e�ects of the Panic of 1893 were lessening and greater 
prosperity was returning. �is combination of forces meant that needed fund-
ing was or would soon be available. Finally, building materials and expertise were 
increasingly available. �e completion of the transcontinental railroad in 1869 
made eastern building materials available at a fraction of the cost of transporting 
them cross-country by ox cart. Architects and contractors were also increasingly 
available. In 1888, only six architects were listed in the Utah territorial directory. 
�e number of architects in the state directory increased almost tenfold during 
the next thirty years—increasing to ��y-seven in 1918.12 Increased funding and 
available workforce were soon at work to meet the building backlog.

Buildings constructed during Joseph F. Smith’s presidency show basic changes 
that facilitated the Church’s change from a gathered Zion concept to a worldwide 
Zion with members living successfully in a secular world. �e gathering concept 
envisioned a supportive community as the ideal for individual growth. Such a com-
munity would provide educational, social, and spiritual activities while limiting the 
outside world’s temptations. Such an ideal was undermined both by the increasing 
secularization of Mormon communities, as shown by the switch from Church to 
secular schools, and was not applicable for the increasing number of Church mem-
bers living outside LDS communities. Adding classrooms to ward meetinghouses 
and the introduction of new building types for education proved to be fundamen-
tal to this change. �e �rst change was the development of ward meetinghouses. 
Speci�cs will be discussed later, but the decision that every ward would have an 
amusement hall and enough classrooms ensured that the buildings could provide 
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social and educational instruction for all age groups. In addition, two innovations 
in Church education allowed similar support outside the Intermountain West. �e 
�rst was the start of the seminary program and, second, the foreshadowing of the 
institute program, discussed in more detail later. �ese changes were fundamental 
in the transition from gathering to providing support for members living through-
out the world.

Many new Salt Lake City buildings completed the plan of Zion, as established 
in Nauvoo, or expanded upon the Nauvoo plan to meet new opportunities. Joseph 
Smith formulated several plans for the City of Zion, but the plan’s physical execu-
tion in Nauvoo was the most powerful model for Church leaders and members. 
Joseph F. Smith was the last Church President to have personally experienced that 
model. Several structures were new replacement buildings for earlier buildings. 
�e Deseret News Building, home to the Church-owned newspaper and printing 
o�ce, continued a long line of Church printing o�ces that had started in Kirtland, 
Ohio, as well as consolidated company operations. Two new buildings—a build-
ing for the Presiding Bishop (commonly referred to as the Bishop’s Building) and 
the new Church Administration Building—similarly continued functions that 
had originally been housed in a variety of locations, including the Kirtland and 
Nauvoo temple a�ics. �e Bishop’s Building consolidated and oversaw Church 
�nancial operations on the same land where the Tithing O�ce had earlier man-
aged these functions. �e structure also provided o�ce space for the Seventies 
Quorum, Church Board of Education, the Relief Society, and the other Church 
auxiliaries. �e new Administration Building was built near the earlier Church’s 
Presidents O�ce, but on the other side of the Lion House. �e classical building, 
which might have been mistaken for a bank, projected dignity and security while 
housing the Church’s General Authorities as well as the historical library and 
archive. A �nal group of buildings continuing the Nauvoo pa�ern were school 
structures in Salt Lake City. Five new Salt Lake buildings behind the Hotel Utah 
created a new campus for the LDS University. �ese buildings were used for many 
years and ultimately became the LDS Business College.

�e Hotel Utah’s construction was the most visible element in completing 
the plan of Zion. �e Nauvoo House was to be a major hotel for visitors to the 
Illinois city; the Hotel Utah served a similar function in Salt Lake City. It is some-
how ��ing that Joseph F. Smith completed in Salt Lake City a building with a simi-
lar function to the uncompleted one in which, as a �ve-year-old, he saw his father’s 
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and uncle’s bodies a�er they had been retrieved from Carthage. �e new Hotel 
Utah, designed by major California architectural �rm Parkinson and Bergstrom, 
was located on one of the city’s most prominent lots—part of the former Tithing 
Lot, which adjoins the Temple Block. Festive and clad in terra co�a, the building 
was �ne enough that it was listed as one of the �ve unexpectedly best hotels in 
America in John Günter’s Inside USA.13

�ese buildings completed the Nauvoo pa�ern—although additional build-
ings were constructed to serve additional functions for an expanding Church and 
community. Salt Lake hospitals were run by churches, and the Church followed 
suit when the LDS Hospital opened in 1905. �e Salt Lake hospital expanded to in-
clude a nursing college. It became the �agship for a string of ��een Church-owned 
hospitals in the Intermountain West before the Church divested them in 1975. �e 
Deseret Gymnasium is the second building which expanded the plan of Zion. It 
was originally planned as part of the LDS University, but was opened to the public 
to provide physical activity for city dwellers that no longer had farm work to keep 
them in shape. It should be noted that ward amusement halls had not yet become 

�e Hotel Utah served the same function envisioned for the Nauvoo House in Nau-
voo—a �ne hotel for visitors. Its construction symbolized the completion of the public 
and Church buildings in Joseph Smith’s plan for Zion—as constructed in Nauvoo, 
Illinois. Souvenir Novelty Company, postcard no. 720, courtesy of W. Ray Luce.
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ward gymnasiums where basketball and other sports were enthroned.14 �e local 
halls were used primarily for dances, theatrical productions, and similar activities. 
While the Deseret Gymnasium’s full service gymnasium with swimming pool, 
track, and bowling alleys did not become a model for Church buildings in other 
western cities, the Church did construct several large multistake free-standing 
gymnasiums during the 1950s—although their main focus was basketball. �e 
Temple Square Bureau of Information was a �nal addition to Salt Lake City’s Plan 
of Zion during Smith’s presidency. �e bureau was an opportunistic building. 
Two factors spurred its construction. Church leaders recognized that thousands 
of tourists were coming to Salt Lake City to see Temple Square and learn about 
the Church and its history while the Church was sending missionaries around the 
world. Here was an opportunity to tell their story to people who were coming to 
them. �e second factor came as Church members heard what local tour guides 
were telling visitors. �e stories were good and some were correct. Church leaders 
decided that they should tell the story, and in 1902 a small octagonal kiosk was 
constructed on the temple grounds. It quickly proved to be too small, and in 1904 
a permanent Bureau of Information was constructed next to the south entrance 

Deseret Gymnasium provided a wide range of recreational opportunities as Salt 
Lake City became more urbanized. �e building was constructed to meet new needs; 
it was not just a continuation of Joseph Smith’s Nauvoo plan. Souvenir Novelty 
Company, postcard no. 714, courtesy of W. Ray Luce.
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to Temple Square. �at building was doubled in size in 1910 and doubled again in 
1915 when a second story was added to the building.15 �e enterprise proved suc-
cessful and the Church’s First Presidency noted in their 1909 Christmas message 
that 300,000 tourists had passed through the Tabernacle grounds that year.16

Church buildings constructed during Smith’s presidency dramatically illus-
trate the physical expansion of Zion. Access to temples, the Church’s most sacred 
buildings, was perhaps the most cherished blessings of living in Zion. Temples 
provided earthly ordinances such as the endowment and eternal marriage. All 
operating temples were located in Utah—which clearly de�ned the limits of the 
gathered Zion. President Smith’s most dramatic building announcement was the 
Cardston Alberta Temple in 1912. �e building is unusual in many ways. It was 
the �rst temple planned since the presidency of Brigham Young, who had died 
more than thirty-�ve years before. Its location was not only outside Utah, but 
outside the United States. It clearly indicated that Zion had been dramatically ex-
panded to include the Mormon colonies in Canada and Mexico. President Smith 
wanted to announce two temples at the same time—one in Canada and one in 
the Mormon colonies in Mexico—but Pancho Villa’s raids delayed the Mexican 
temple for almost one hundred years.17

�e second temple outside of Utah was equally innovative. Its location in 
Hawaii expanded the concept of Zion even further. �e location bore visible 
record that Joseph F. Smith knew of island Saints’ needs from his long associa-
tion with them, and that, indeed, the members from the isles of the sea—at least 
the Polynesian islands—would not be asked to gather to the Great Basin to fully 
avail themselves of temple blessings. It was designed by the same architectural 
�rm in the same revolutionary Prairie School style. Smith strongly hinted at 
additional temples in the South Paci�c, saying that New Zealand Saints would 
use the Hawaiian temple unless they “become strong enough to require a house 
to be built there also”—indicating that the islands of the South Paci�c, not just 
Hawaii, were now included in “Zion.”18

�e physical de�nition of Zion was also expanded by tabernacle and meeting-
house construction in new areas outside the Mormon Corridor. Tabernacles—
large assembly buildings constructed for stakes, rather than wards—were built 
in Cardston, Alberta, and in La Grande, Oregon. �e Union Stake Tabernacle in 
La Grande has been described as “the best building in Eastern Oregon.”19 �ese 
tabernacles de�ned Zion, but proved too large to be sustained in areas with 
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relatively few Church members. Meetinghouses were constructed in Gridley, 
California; New Zealand; and Samoa. �ese buildings, unlike most earlier meet-
inghouses in outlying areas, were planned for use by established local wards and 
branches rather than missions and missionaries.

�ese new facilities, which expanded Zion, contrast with a series of more 
traditional structures built to house missionary activities. A series of rather spec-
tacular new mission facilities were constructed during Smith’s presidency. Pope 
and Burton, architects for the Cardston and Hawaiian Temples, designed new mis-
sion headquarters—with Prairie School meetinghouses—for three missions: the 
Northwestern States Mission in Portland, the Western States Mission in Denver, 
and the Eastern States Mission in New York City. Two of these survive: the Brooklyn, 
New York, building as the Morning Star Baptist Church, and the Portland meet-
inghouse as a Zen Temple. Similar complexes in other architectural styles were 
constructed in Chicago, Illinois, for the Northern States Mission; Independence, 
Missouri, for the Central States Mission; later in Atlanta, Georgia, for the Southern 
States Mission; and Los Angeles for the California Mission. A similar complex was 
constructed in Christiania (now Oslo), Norway, in 1903.20 �is building replaced 
one constructed by President Anthon L. Skanchy in the late 1880s.21

Education was one of President Smith’s highest priorities. Education had also 
been the primary vehicle used by many Protestant and Catholic missionaries in the 
nineteenth century who believed that if they educated the deluded Mormons they 
would see the errors of their ways. �e United States government demanded that 
a free public education system be set up, replacing the ward schools, before Utah 
could be a state. �e Free School Act of 1890 set up such a system, but contests for 
control of the local school districts occurred, especially in urban school districts. 
�e Salt Lake City School Board quickly had a majority of nonmembers. Church 
o�cials feared that some public schools might mirror previous denominational 
schools in trying to question faith as well as teach the ABCs. �ey responded by 
introducing ward a�er-school programs in religious education for grade school and 
high school students. Such programs were held in the ward meetinghouses, o�en re-
quiring additional classrooms. In addition, President Wilford Woodru� requested 
that every stake establish a stake academy or high school.22 Smith’s presidency was 
the high point of academy construction, with buildings completed throughout the 
Intermountain West: Murdock Academy, Emery Academy, Dixie Academy, and 
Snow Academy in Utah; Oneida Academy and Ricks Academy in Idaho; Snow�ake 
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Academy and St. Joseph Academy in Arizona; Big Horn Academy in Wyoming; and 
San Louis Academy in Colorado.23 Additional academies ranged as far as Colonia 
Juárez, Mexico, and the Maori Agricultural College in New Zealand.

�e a�er-school program and academy construction did not prove to be 
viable, long-term answers to secular education. �ree other initiatives during 
Smith’s presidency did provide a long-term solution. First was the decision to 
provide greater Church college opportunities, exempli�ed by the construction of 
the Maeser Building, the �rst building on BYU’s “upper campus.” Second was the 
construction of the Granite Stake Seminary Building in 1912. Rather than provid-
ing religious education a�er school in ward meetinghouses, the Granite Seminary 
moved the building close to the school and taught religious classes throughout the 
day—the beginning of a now worldwide program. �e seeds of a similar institute 
program for college students were introduced in the Logan Fi�h Ward Annex. �e 
annex was larger than the chapel, and was designed to provide greater room capac-
ity for classes and social activities for college students at Utah State Agricultural 
College. Elder John A. Widtsoe wrote that “there is probably no meeting house in 
the Church that has more meeting rooms for the various quorums and organiza-
tions of the ward than had the Logan Fi�h Ward.”24

Temples, tabernacles, and ward meetinghouses were all changed during 
Smith’s presidency—temples and meetinghouses dramatically. �e Cardston 
Temple’s design is every bit as revolutionary as the design of the new small tem-
ples at the end of the twentieth century. Because there was no Church architect, a 
competition was held for the building’s design. �e selected plan was modern, un-
like any temple yet constructed. In keeping with the design guidelines, the struc-
ture did not have a large assembly room or towers, features of every previous tem-
ple. It was the �rst temple and the second building (the Endowment House being 
the �rst) to be designed primarily around the ceremonial endowment rooms. It 
is the model for later temples. �e leading book on Canadian churches calls the 
Cardston Temple “surprising” and “altogether unforge�able.” �e “innovative 
structure in Wright’s idiom is hardly indebted at all to typical church structures 
and, rather daringly, they included Aztec and Mayan overtones in the decorative 
touches.”25 �e architect’s achievement is even more remarkable when it is real-
ized that the structure was designed only �ve years a�er the completion of Frank 
Lloyd Wright’s Unity Temple in Oak Park, Illinois—the Cardston Temple’s in-
spiration—and one of America’s greatest buildings.
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Tabernacles were on a very di�erent long-term trajectory, as the Smith years 
were almost the last gasp for tabernacle building. A great number were constructed, 
but the basic design for most tabernacles remained very similar. �eir main func-
tion was to provide an assembly space large enough for stake conferences four times 
a year. �e buildings were o�en also the site for civic functions because many of 
these Church buildings were the town’s largest halls. Many tabernacles are im-
pressive. Architecturally they range from the delicate �rst Granite Tabernacle, de-
signed by Richard K. A. Kle�ing, who designed the Utah State Capitol and Saltair, 
to the Alpine Stake Tabernacle in American Fork with its understated exterior and 
unexpected, wonderful interior. Some were very utilitarian, like the Teton Stake 
Tabernacle in Driggs, Idaho, while others were on the cu�ing edge of American 
architecture. �e Montpelier Idaho Tabernacle, designed by Pope and Burton, for 
example, is extraordinary, inspired by Louis Sullivan’s landmark St. Paul’s Church 
in Cedar Rapids, Iowa, that was constructed only four years earlier. During Smith’s 
presidency an unusual phenomenon occurred as a single stake had multiple taber-
nacles. �e Alpine Stake had tabernacles in Lehi and Pleasant Grove as well as the 
“o�cial” stake tabernacle in American Fork. Similarly, the Bear Lake Stake had tab-
ernacles in Montpelier and Paris, Idaho. �e cost of construction and maintenance 
limited the construction of new tabernacles. In California and other outlying areas, 
most tabernacles constructed a�er Smith’s presidency housed one or two wards as 
well as a stake. A�er World War II, when public address systems allowed greater 
�exibility, stake houses and large meetinghouses took over tabernacle functions. 
�ose functions were further reduced when stake conferences were cut from four 
times a year to two and from two Sunday sessions to one.

Ward meetinghouses changed greatly during Smith’s presidency. In fact, ward 
meetinghouses were the most numerous structures built and changed more during 
this period than at any other period in Church history. Changes in ward programs 
found a response in ward buildings. Sunday School, Primary, and weekday reli-
gious education classes were increasingly important since schools were now secular 
and did not include theology along with the three R’s. Fast and testimony meetings 
were changed from �ursday morning to Sunday, and weekly priesthood meetings 
were instituted; a 1914 Joseph F. Smith Jr. Improvement Era article outlines current 
practices for ward buildings. �ese new meetinghouses were so new that there was 
no agreement on what to call them. Smith reported that they were called meet-
inghouses, chapels, or churches26 and that each ward has its own meetinghouse.27
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“Modern buildings” included both a chapel—worship space—and an amusement 
hall. �e amusement hall was used for dances, “under proper regulation and restric-
tions,” as well as for production of dramas, opera, friendly debates, declarations, 
and musical, oratorical, and other contests. Classrooms were these structures’ third 
component. Smith outlined the Church’s scheduled meetings. Sunday: priest-
hood quorums from 9:00 to 10:30; Sunday School from 10:30 to noon; sacrament 
meetings in the a�ernoon or evening as local circumstances determine—usually 
determined by how many members had cows to milk before coming to evening 
services. School-age children had two meetings: smaller children in the Primary 
Association met one day a week, and other religious classes were held on the other 
days. As has been mentioned, these classes provided religious education no longer 
available in the public schools. �e women’s organization, the Relief Society, also 
used the meetinghouse unless they had their own hall. Many Relief Societies con-
tinued to own or build their own halls until the Presiding Bishop asked them to 
stop in 1924, while at the same time directing ward bishops to provide well for the 
sisters in their meetinghouses. Smith claimed these new Church meetinghouses 
were “equal to the best of the kind to be found in any land.”28

�ese new modern meetinghouses were a drastic change from the multipur-
pose buildings that had been built through the nineteenth century. �e new build-
ings had many advantages: sacred space—the chapel—could be divided from the 
recreational use of the amusement hall. �e bishop of the Franklin Ward empha-
sized the point in the ward’s application for funding assistance: “As our meeting 
house has been used for all purposes and could not be kept in �t condition for a 
house of worship, its sacredness being destroyed by the uses to which it was put.”29

�e separate chapels could now have permanent pews, a permanent stand with seats 
for ward leaders, the ward choir, ward clerk, and a sacrament table—o�en centered 
under the pulpit. �e chapel o�en had a small balcony at the back to provide addi-
tional seating. Some ward buildings began incorporating baptismal fonts, including 
the Morgan Second Ward, whose building had a unique combination of a swim-
ming pool and a baptismal font.30 One of the most fundamental changes occurred 
in a few buildings, such as the Miller and �irty-First Wards in Salt Lake City, 
which included a chapel with over�ow capacity in the amusement hall. Additional 
chapel seating could be provided by opening doors between these two areas. Both 
buildings were constructed in 1909, but the new plan did not become dominant un-
til much later when it became a fundamental feature of meetinghouse design.31 In 
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addition to design changes, this period also saw many meetinghouses �rst acquire 
gas or electrical lighting, indoor plumbing, and steam or forced air heating.

While an increasing number of American churches had social halls, few em-
braced the concept of amusement halls with the same vigor as the LDS Church. 
�ese halls applied the concept of a gathered Zion to the ward. Every ward had 
an amusement hall to provide “wholesome recreation,” while classrooms and the 
chapel provided religious education. Some of the bishoprics’ most earnest plead-
ings in their building applications concern amusement halls. Ward leaders took 
very seriously their responsibility to provide their youth “proper” recreation in 
an increasingly threatening environment. Clear�eld Ward leaders “keenly” felt 
“the responsibility of our calling .  .  . as watchmen on the tower and .  .  . do not 
wish to spare time or means to guard, advise, and protect our people against that 
which would lead to the downfall of our Sons and Daughters.” �ey said they 
were at a critical point as to “whether the priesthood shall control our amuse-
ments or whether we will submit to an outside element.” �e outside threat, in 

�e Salt Lake �irty-First Ward constructed in 1909 was among the �rst Church 
buildings built with an over�ow �om the chapel into the amusement hall. �e doors 
on the right open into the chapel. Photo by W. Ray Luce.
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this case, was someone not from the ward who wanted to build a local amusement 
hall.32 �e threat to the Burton Ward was not theoretical: “For the past six years 
our young people had been frequenting a Hall of Questionable character a few 
miles south of our ward. And we came to the conclusion that in order to hold our 
young people in the proper environment, it was necessary that we should build 
a Hall that would be under our own supervision.”33 Similar sentiments were ex-
pressed by many wards, including St. Johns, Arizona: “We are surrounded on 
every side by mining camps, smelter towns etc. and our sons and daughters have 
formed the habit of patronizing these places for their amusement.”34 �e Elwood 
Ward bishopric described in detail their concern. Most people in the area were 
not members, “and last fall they erected a Dancing Hall there and close by opend 
[sic] up a Saloon. �ey have tried their utmost to get our young People to go there 
but so far have not succeeded very well.”35 Clearly amusement halls were viewed 
as more than a nice place for ward socials.

�e Churchwide funding process started during Smith’s presidency for con-
structing meetinghouses and tabernacles provided the basic outline for a process 
which later became standardized. Funding was overseen by the Church’s First 
Presidency and almost always signed personally by Smith. A ward or stake sub-
mi�ed an application form seeking funding. �e form provided the ward bishop-
ric space to outline their request and a section for the stake presidency to support 
or suggest modi�cations to the request. �e bishopric o�en outlined the need 
for the building, the support the ward had given, and local conditions to support 
their request. �ese ranged from the impact of a bad harvest to ward members’ 
struggles colonizing a new area with the a�endant costs for land, homes, and 
irrigation systems. �e section was o�en used to provide information on ward 
members’ economic status or the congregation’s large number of widows. Stake 
presidencies commented on the request, usually fully supporting a ward’s re-
quest, but they might suggest modi�cations or note the needs of other wards in 
the stake. A series of �ll-in-the-blank questions asked about the building itself, as 
well as the �nancial condition and tithing record of the ward. Building questions 
included size, materials, seating capacity, classrooms, the building’s designer or 
architect, and who held title to the land—usually the local bishop or a ward cor-
poration. �e �nancial section asked for the estimated cost of the building, how 
much had been raised, and how much expended. Questions about the ward in-
cluded how many members, how many families, and the cost of the building per 
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member and per family. A tithing section requested information on how much 
tithing had been paid the year before and how much cash and produce were cur-
rently on hand. �ese questions were important because some wards asked to use 
tithing on hand or tithing to be collected for their building project. Although plan 
submi�al was not required, it is clear that many wards submi�ed plans, or had 
their architect submit plans. Several applications note that plans have been sent 
in, and in some cases—like that for the Holbrook Idaho Ward—they followed a 
suggestion to provide a basement for classrooms.36 Local authorities o�en noted 
previous discussions with President Smith or other General Authorities about the 
building, while others suggested that any questions could be answered by a spe-
ci�c Apostle who had recently visited the community. In some cases these visits 
prompted changes in building plans. �e Hyrum First Ward’s building site was 
moved a�er the foundation excavation had already started in response to Apostle 
Teasdale’s recommendations.37 Apostle Hyrum M. Smith suggested that the Farr 
West Ward building be improved and used for a few more years rather than be 
replaced. �e ward complied and requested a lesser amount.38

Applications were reviewed personally by Joseph F. Smith, who balanced in-
dividual merit with money available. Some projects were already under way, while 
others were �nished and needed money to complete the building or pay o� debts. 
Smith signed each application personally as the Church’s Trustee-in-Trust and 
wrote the amount allowed and any conditions. Awards ranged from a few hun-
dred dollars to four or �ve thousand dollars. Although there were not rigid regula-
tions, certain guidelines were usually used. First, the ward could expect no more 
than one-third of the money needed for the building—although on rare occa-
sions, that amount might rise to almost one-half. Local units were almost always 
admonished to avoid debt, and money was usually given with the stipulation that 
it would be received only a�er the ward raised any required match without go-
ing into debt. Many buildings were the subject of more than one funding request 
because the building cost had been underestimated, or because of hard times or 
additional costs. �e Hyrum �ird Ward, for example, claimed that the architect 
misled them about the building’s real cost.39

Ward leaders oversaw the construction process, including fund-raising, selec-
tion of the architect and contractor, and oversight of construction. Constructing a 
new meetinghouse could be a daunting task, especially in a rural area where ward 
members did much of the work. �e Rockville Ward worked on their building 
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for twelve to ��een years, and it was still not �nished.40 Similarly, the Goshen 
Second Ward met in their building’s basement for four years before they submit-
ted an application for Church funds to continue construction.41 �e Circleville 
Ward met for a time in the Relief Society hall, and the Enterprise Ward was forced 
to hold Primary outdoors.42 Several wards purchased other buildings and remod-
eled them for Church use. �e Center Ward, Wasatch Stake, bought the Heber 
Methodist Church building and moved it, while the Corinne Ward bought the lo-
cal opera hall for a meetinghouse.43 Several wards purchased schools and remod-
eled them either as chapels or amusement halls.

�e system initiated by President Smith, served the Church for many years 
a�er system modi�cations were made. Wards continued to apply for a percentage 
of building costs a�er meeting requirements for size and contributions. Changes 
to the system were modi�cations rather than wholesale replacement. �e Church 
�rst supplied plans at no cost, hoping wards would select them, and later over-
saw design for all Church buildings; buildings were owned by the Corporation 
of the President a�er it was established in 1923 rather than ward bishops or ward 
corporations.

�ese new meetinghouses were much more concerned with style than ear-
lier ones. In fact, the majority of the earlier structures were vernacular buildings 
without pretense of a style. Many applications for funding mentioned that the 
new building would be a credit to the Church. �is concern came from a desire 
for credible Church buildings, but in a few applications there are hints of compe-
tition with other denominations. Rigby Ward leaders, for example, said they were 
“confronted” with “the building of a church by our Presbyterian friends. �is 
building is nearing completion, and it is their boast that when �nished our chil-
dren will be enticed to their services; this we do not desire, and we believe that if 
our own building can be nicely �nished, that this di�culty can be overcome.”44

�e bishop of the Harrisville Ward wrote that their meetinghouse would be wor-
thy of the Church. He continued that one reason it was so expensive was that they 
were completely surrounded by “the People of the World,” adding that “the best 
was none too good for the Saints.”45

New La�er-day Saint meetinghouses utilized many architectural styles, but 
Gothic Revival was the most used style, and Prairie School the most unexpected. 
During the �rst two decades of the twentieth century, Gothic Revival was the most 
popular style for American churches, including La�er-day Saint meetinghouses. 
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Top: �e Malad Idaho Second Ward is a good example of the many Gothic Revival 
meetinghouses built during Joseph F. Smith’s presidency. Photo by W. Ray Luce. Bot-
tom: Malad Second Ward interior. �e stand has an oval enclosure to help project a 
speaker’s voice. Note that the sacrament table is in the center—just below the pul-
pit—to emphasize the importance of the sacrament. Photo by W. Ray Luce.
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Some claimed Gothic Revival was the “only Proper style.”46 Gothic Revival origi-
nated in Gothic cathedrals, and Gothic structures looked like churches. Many 
well-designed Gothic buildings graced towns throughout the Mormon Corridor. 
�ey were well designed, if not always fully accessible, and contain some of the 
Church’s best stained glass windows. Several Gothic Revival structures survive, 
including the buildings for the Salt Lake Second Ward, the Salt Lake Tenth Ward’s 
new chapel, the Liberty Ward, the Brigham City �ird, and the Malad Second 
Wards. Unfortunately, some of the best buildings constructed during this period 
have been sold or demolished, including that of the Salt Lake Seventeenth Ward.

Prairie School–style Church buildings are unusual and unprecedented. 
Prairie-style architecture was developed in Chicago, Illinois, principally by 
Frank Lloyd Wright. It was primarily used for houses, but religious, governmen-
tal, and commercial structures also would use the design. �e style emphasized 
horizontal lines and geometric pa�erns, while creating new, nontraditional, 

Stained glass window, Salt Lake Second Ward meetinghouse. Joseph Smith’s First 
Vision was a favorite subject for stained glass windows constructed during Smith’s 
presidency. Photo by W. Ray Luce.
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decorative motifs for capitals and cornices. While there are a few other American 
Prairie School church buildings, the style was embraced by the Church as by no 
other denomination. �e Cardston and Hawaiian Temples obviously spurred 
the movement, but at least sixty other Mormon Prairie School buildings were 
constructed.47 �e Salt Lake First Ward’s building (built in 1913 and demolished 
in 1978), was one of the �nest Prairie-style meetinghouses. �is building was 
not only architecturally important as one of the Church’s �nest Prairie School–
style buildings, but it was historically signi�cant as well; in fact, former Church 
President Gordon B. Hinckley and his wife grew up in the ward, and President 
Hinckley’s father served in the Liberty Stake as stake president.48 �e style was 
prevalent enough to be called “Mormon Style.”49 Today only a handful of these 
buildings are le�, including the Parowan �ird Ward building and the Ogden 
Deaf Branch building. It is interesting to speculate on the apparent strong sym-
bolic relationship between Prairie School, this new American architectural style 
that had never existed anywhere before, and a religion restored in America. 
Perhaps Gothic Revival, the prevailing Church style, represented traditional 
Christianity be�er than it did the new, restored gospel.

Joseph F. Smith’s presidency produced an amazing legacy in the number of 
buildings, their styles, and plans. Understanding this building heritage can help 
us understand the transformation of the Church from an isolated organization 

�e Blackfoot Idaho Tabernacle is one of several Church buildings designed by Pope 
and Burton, architects in the Prairie School style. �e building, constructed just 
a�er Smith’s presidency, is now a funeral home. Photo by W. Ray Luce.
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in the western United States to a modern organization expanding into the world. 
Only a few of these buildings remain, and we need to understand and cherish 
them so that they can tell their story to future generations of Church members.
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